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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION

ORANGE LAKE COUNTRY CLUB, INC.
and WILSON RESORT FINANCE,
L.L.C.,

Plaintiff s,
V. Case No: 6:17cv-1044-0rl-31DCI

CASTLE LAW GROUP, P.C., JUDSON
PHILLIPS ESQ, CASTLE MARKETING
GROUP, LLC, CASTLE VENTURE
GROUP, LLC, RESORT RELIEF, LLC,
WILLIAM MICHAEL KEEVER, KEVIN
HANSON and SEAN AUSTIN,

Defendans.

ORDER

This matter comes before the Cowithout a hearingn the motions to dismiss filed by
the following Defendants: Sean Austin (Doc. 99); Castle Law Group, P.C. @Qastf’) and
Judson Phillips (“PHtiips”) (Doc. 103); and Resort Relief, LLC ( “Resort Relief”) and Kevin
Hanson (“Hanson”) (Doc. 106). In resolving the motions, the Court has considered the ompibus
response in opposition (Doc. 112) filed by the Plaintiffs, Orange Lake Country Club, Inc.
(“Orange Lake”) and Wilson Resort Finance, LLC (“Wilson Finance”).

l. Background

The instant case involves a dispute between entities involved in selling tinseghdra
group that promises to help timeshare owners get out of their contractarding to the
allegations of the Third Amended Complaint (Doc. 3Bnceforth, “TACY, which are accepted

in pertinent part as true ftine purpo® of resolving the instant motions, Orange Lake develops
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andsells timeshare propertigdsroughout the United States, including Florid@ AC at 5).
Individuals who buy timeshares from Orange Lékenceforth, “Orange Lake Owners”)
sometimes obtain financing through Wilson Finance. (TAC at®)e Raintiffs allege that
Defendant Castle Ventuf@roup, LLC (“Castle Ventureunds Defendant Castle Marketing
Group, LLC (“Castle Marketing”), whicha{ong with Resort Relief) solicits timeshare owners,
directing them to retain Castle Law(TAC at 4). According to the records of these various
entities, Austin is the sole member of Castle Markefir&C at 67); Defendant William Keever
(“Keever”) andAustin are the members of Castle Vent{ir&C at 7} Hanson is the sole membe
of Resort Relie{TAC at 8) and Phillips, a lawyer, is associated with Castle [BAC at 7)
When they buy their timeshares, Orange Lake Owners entarantacs in whichthey
agreeto certain ongoing obligations. mdong other thingghey agredo payassessments,
maintenance fees, and a portion of the common expenses for the entire develofirAéhat 5-
6). According to the Plaintiffghe Defendants are engaged in a scheme to swindle Orange |
Ownersby falsely promising t@et them out ofhese contracts (TAC at 17). The Plaintifs
contend that the Defendants use misleading advertising to solicit Orang®Wwalkes claiminga
high likelihood ofsuccesswhen inreality they are rarely successfu(TAC at 18). Further, the
Plaintiffs contend, after Orange Lake Owners retain Castle Law, Casti@dvises them to
breach their contracts with Orange Lalsea way of increasirthe chance that Orange Lake will

agree to let them out of their contract{TAC at 2324).

L ake

The Plaintiffs filed the instant suit on June 8, 2017. (Doc. 1). Inresponse to a motion to

dismiss for lack of jurisdiction (Doc. 24), the Plaintiffs filed an amended cambg2oc. 29) on

August 7, 2017. After a second motion to dismiss on jurisdictional gréyBae. 35), the

! Both motions sought dismissal on the grounds that the Plaintiffs had failed to propg
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Plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint (Doc. 60) on September 21, 2017. On Decemper 15
2017, the Court granted in part motions to dismiss filed by Castle Law and Phillips6D and
by Austin (Doc. 62). The Court denied the motions insofar as they sought disohitheal
Plaintiffs’ tortious interference with contract and civil conspiracy claimsgltanted the motions
as to claims for tortious interference wattlvantageous business relationships, violationiseof
Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. 8§ 501.201-508[2A3TPA"),
violations of Florida’s Vacation Plan and Timesharing Act, Fla. Stat. 8§ 721.02-721.98
(“FVPTA”), anda standbne claimfor injunctive relief. (Doc. 84 at ).

On December 27, 2017, the Plaintiffs filed their Third Amended Complaint (Doc. 91)] In
addition to the claims for tortious interference with contract (Count I) asicconspiracy (Count
I), which survived from the previous pleading, the Plaintiffs again assertfar violations of
the FVPTA (Count Ill) and FDUTPA (Count IV). In addition, they assaints under the
Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 1125(a) (Counts V-VI) and for misleading advertising in violatiFla.
Stat. 8 817.41 (Counts VIHII).

Il. Legal Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires “a short and plain statentbatabim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief” so as to give the defendambtiae of whathe
claim is and the grounds upon which it re§tsnley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47, 78 S.Ct. 99, 103,
2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)verruled on other groungd8ell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomblg50 U.S. 544,
127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007). A Rule 12(bjy(@lion to dismiss for failure to state a

claim merely tests the sufficiency of the complaint; it does not decide the merits aséhe ¢

plead the citizenship of one oone parties, a requirement foCaurt to determine whether it
possessediversity jurisdiction over a dispute.




Milburn v. United States’34 F.2d 762, 765 (11th Cir.1984). In ruling on a motion to dismiss,

the Court must accefite factual allegations as true and construe the complaint in the light m|
favorable to the plaintiff. SEC v. ESM Group, Ind835 F.2d 270, 272 (11th Cir.1988). The
Court must also limit its consideration to the pleadings and any exhibits attheletd. Fed. R.
Civ. P. 10(c)see also GSW, Inc. v. Long County,,G89 F.2d 1508, 1510 (11th Cir. 1993).

The plaintiff must provide enough factual allegations to raise a right to rebgtahe
speculative levelfwombly,550 U.S. at 555, 127 S.Ct. at 1966, and to indicate the presence
required elementdVatts v. Fla. Inf' Univ., 495 F.3d 1289, 1302 (11th C2007). Conclusory
allegations, unwarranted factual deductions or legal conclusions masqueradutg @adlifaot
prevent dismissal.Davila v. Delta Air Lines, In¢.326 F.3d 1183, 1185 (11th Cir. 2003).

In Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009), the Supr
Court explained that a complaint need not contain detailed factual allegations démarls
more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawhidiynedme accusation. A pleading that offe

labels and conclusions or a formulaic recitation of the elements of a causierfalt not do.

Nor does a complaint suffice if it tenders naked assartiewoid of further factual enhancement.

Id. at 1949 (internal citations and quotations omitted). “[W]here the well-pleacksdianot
permit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the cottidaialleged
but it has not ‘show[n]’ -“that the plaintiff is entitled to relief.”” Id. at 1950 (quoting Fed. R.
Civ. P. 8(a)(2)).

[I. Analysis

Before addressing the merits of the claims asserted against them, Castled LRl lgys
argue that the Third Amended Complaint falls short of the requirements of Fed.R8Ca),P

which requires that such a pleading provide “a short and plain statefleatotaim showing that
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the pleader is entitled to relief. They point out that the Third Amended Complaint is 68 page
long —twice as long as the Second Amended Compfaimith 238 numbered paragraphs. The
first 100 paragraphs are incorporated into each of the document’s eight counts, degpdethat
many of themappear tdhave no relevance to at least some (if not all) of the claims asserted.
example, roughly foupages are devoted to the formation of Castle Law Gbgugeever, Austin,
ard Philips, even though that information appears to have no relevance to the question of w
any of the Defendants tortiously interfered with the Plaintiffs’ contractgolated the FVPTA.
But while the latest pleading is unnecessarily lengthy died fivith redundancies, the Court find
it does not quite warrant dismissal as a shotgun pleading or for violation of Rule 8(a)
Castle Law and Phillipalso argue that dismissal is required becaosee ofthe

Plaintiffs’ allegations in regard to alledjg false advertising are contradicted by somthef
exhibits attached to the Third Amended Complaint. (Doc. 1037at 3A/ithout going through
all of the examples, the Court notes that among other things the Plaintiffs adléglegar
misleading, communications from Castle Law in which it “guaranteed timestaers it would
relieve them of their timeshare obligations within one year to eighteermsion{Doc. 103 at 6).
In its motion, Castle Law does not dispute having made this statemenbotineghexamples
attributed to it Instead, it cites to the standard engagement contract bateeleand its clients
— attached to the Third Amended Complaint as ExhibiinBieh states that

Client understands and agrees that there is no guaranteed result of

the Firm’s services or that Client will recover money or other

property as a result of the Firm’s engagement. Client understands

and agrees that there is no way to determine the time frame in which

the Client’s case will be resolved and that themneo guarantee
regarding the time required to resolve your Claims.

(Doc. 91-19 at 3). However, a truthful disclosure is not necessarily sufficientrtmowethe net

impression caused by a misleading communicatiSee, e.gFTC v. World Patent Marketing

)
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2017 WL 3508639, * 13 (S.D.Fla. Aug. 16, 2017). Even if every Castle Law customer signed an
engagement letter with the quoted languagemething thatannot be determineat this stage of
the proceedings — it would not necessarily require dismissal.

A. Count | —Tortious Interference and Count Il — Civil Conspiracy

Austin contends that the surviving tortious interference claim should be dismisseddgc

the Plaintiffs fail to identify any specific contracts with which the Defendaats hllegedly
interfered and fail to allege facts supporting the allegation that he, pyscommitted such
interference. (Doc. 99 at@®. However, thi€laim survived the previous round of motions to
dismiss, including one filed by Austin himself. No party has pointed toratgrialchange in
the allegations of Count | or the law of tortious interference that would warex@ménation of
this claim. The same holds true for the civil conspiracy claim asser@ubimt I, which also
survived the previous round of motions to dismiss. The current motions will therefdeailed
as to these two counts.

B. Count Ill — Violation of Fla. Stat. § 721.121

The Plaintiffs allege thddefendantfkesort Relief, HansoiGastle Marketingnd Austin

violated arecordkeepin@bligationunder Florida’s Vacation Plan and Timesharing Act
(“FVPTA”), Fla. Stat. 88 721.02-721.98. The Plaintiffs allege these four Defendants were
“lead deales,” which is defined by the FVPTA in pertinent part as

any person who sells or otherwise provides a resale service provider

or any other person with personal contact information for five or

more owners of timeshare interests. In the event a lead dealer is not

a natural person, the term shall also include the natural person

providing personal contact information to a resale service provider
or other person on behalf of the lead dealer entity.

Fla. Stat. 8 721.05(42). The Act defines “personal contact information” as




any information that can be used to contact the owner of a specific
timeshare interest, including, but not limited to, the owner’s name,
address, telephone number, anuait address.

Fla. Stat. § 721.05(43). The Act requires that lead dealers matetéamrecords for five years
after obtaining personal contact infeation? Fla. Stat. § 721.121(1).

The FVPTA also provides that any party who establishes that a leadweaigfully
obtairedor used personal contact information is entitled to recover from the lead dealer “an
amount equal to $1,000 for each owner about whom such personal contact information wag
wrongfully obtained or used,” plus attorney’s fees and costs. Fla. Stat. § 721.181{Bis
case, the Plaintiffs contend tiResort ReliehndHanson provided personal contact informatior]
of Orange Lake @nersto Castle Marketing and Austin, who then provitled personal contact

information toCastle Law (TACat 35). They allege that this information was “wrongfully

2 As set forth in Fla. Stat. § 721.121(1), those records are:

(a) The name, home address, work address, home telephone number, work telephol
number, and cellular telephone noen of the lead dealer from which the personal contact
information was obtained.

(b) A copy of a current government-issued photographic identification for the lakst de
from which the personal contact information was obtained, such as a driver licespertpas
military identification card.

(c) The date, time, and place of the transaction at which the personal comiacatidn
was obtained, along with the amount of consideration paid and a signed receipt fraad the le
dealer or copy of a canceled check.

(d) A copy of all pieces of personal contact information obtained in the exactriorm a
media in which they were received.

(e) If personal contact information was directly researched and assembledrbgdle
service provider or lead dealer and abtained from another lead dealer, a complete written
description of the sources from which personal contact information was obtained, the
methodologies used for researching and assembling it, the items set forthgraphs (a) and (b
for the individuals who performed the work, and the date such work was done.




obtained”because itvas a result ofhe Defendants’ allegedly deceptive advertisif@AC at 35
36).

ThePlaintiffs are not alleging that any personal contact informatias misappropriated
from them Without explicitly saying so, the Plaintiffs are alleging thatitiie was provided by
theOrange Lake Ownetthemselves, who had besnisled into thinking Castle Law could get
them out of the timeshare contract€ompare Vacation Club Services, Inc. v. Rodrig@é10
WL 1645129 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 22, 2010) (suit involving FVPTWrongful obtaining”claim where
plaintiff's formeremployee allegedly stole database of plaintiff's timeshare members, which
then used by another defendant to sofisieshare members). Because the information at issug
in the instant case waitherthat of the Plaintiffsior obtained from thepossessionResort
Relief and Austin argue that the Plaintiffs lack standingrézeed under the FVPTA.

A statutory cause of actias presumed to extend only to plaintiffs whose interidits
within the zone of interests protected by the law invokééxmark Intern., Inc. v. Static Control
Components, Ing:-- U.S.---, 134 S.Ct. 1377, 1388, 188 L.Ed.2d 392 (2014) (citihen v.
Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 751, 104 S.Ct. 3315, 332 .Ed.2d 556 (1984).0Obviously, the
portions of the FVPTA under which the Plaintiffs now seek to proceed the portions
regulating the acquisition, retention, and use of timeshare owners’ personakitibor ~were
intendedby the Legislaturéo protect the privacy interests of those owners. Howéver,
Plaintiffs arge that by allowing for recovery by any “party” who establishes that palrson
information has been wrongfully obtained or used, the Florida Legislature denteshsinantent

to expand standinigpr such claim$eyond just timeshare owners. (Doc. 112 al3%- They

3 No party raised thissue of standing iacation Club ServicesSee id.

was




also contend that they have an interest in protecting their timeshare owasrdding solicited
by fraudulent timeshare relief outfits (Doc. 112 at 16).

The Court notes that both of the Plaintiffs’ arguments are relevant only ¢taihneof
wrongfully obtained information under Fla. Stat. § 721.121(3), not to the alleged violations g
recordkeeping obligation found in Fla. Stat. § 721.121(1). Therefore, the Court fintsethat
Plaintiffs lack standing to purswaims againstite Defendants for any alleged failure to follow
the requirements of Fla. Stat. § 721.121(1). As for the $1,000-per-owner claims undeatFa
721.121(3), thélaintiffs’ arguments are not persuasive. The Legislature’s use of the word

“party” ratherthan, for example, “owner” in that subsection does suggest that recovery was

intended to be limited to the individuals whose information was misappropriated or misBsed.

the Plaintiffs offer nothing to suggest that the Legislatotended to prot the interests of
timeshare developervgnen t passed Fla. Stat. §721.121(3\ccordingly, the Court finds that the
Plaintiffs also lack standing to pursue claims under that provision of the FVPTANt @I will
be dismissed with prejudice.
C. Count IV —FDUTPA

FDUTPA provides in pertinent part that “[u]nfair methods of competition, unconscion
acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conductraidenyr commerce)
are hereby declared unlawful.Fla. Stat. § 501.204(1)A claim for damages under FDUTPA
has three elements: (1) a deceptive act or unfair pra@iceausationand (3) actual damages.
Caribbean Cruise Line, Inc. v. Better Business Bureau of Palm Beach Count§6h&o. 3d
164, 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015)In the Second Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs alleged that
Defendants violated FDUTPA Kg) soliciting the Orange Lake Owners through ads that deceive
them into thinking that they could unilaterally cancel their timeshare gt$ei@)misrepresenting to

the Orange Lake Owners that Castle Law could legally represent them in Floritka andr(3Yalsely
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informing clients who were Orange Lake Owners that their timeshare nfatelseen resolved.
(Doc. 60 at 289). The Court found thatehPlaintiffs had failed to state a claim because these
alleged violations would have harmed the Orange Lake Owners, not the Plaintiffs.
In the Third Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs repeat the second and thirdialesga
described above ie.,the misepresentations as to Castle Law’s ability to represent timeshare ow
in Florida courts and as to whether those owners’ claims had been resolved. As vaxet
previously, these acts would cause harm to the owners, not to the Plaintiffs, and dsntiteassi
Plaintiffs in asserting an FDUTPA claim.
However, the Plaintiffs addewallegations. After repeating their previous allegation about
deceiving timeshare owners as to tladility to unilaterally cancel their contracts, the Plaintiffs alle
that the Defendants’ “advertising and marketing materials ... falsely indowesfiare owners] to sto
making payments to Plaintiffs even though such payments are required by laffatteable
contracts to which the timeshare owners have no legal excuse or justifivatito pay.” (TAC at
3940). Plaintiffsgo on toallege that
Defendants’ false and fraudulent advertising and marketing,
including online, falsely portray timeshareveélopers and
associations, generally, and Plaintiffs specificallysyatematically
engaging in fraudulent and deceptive conduct to market and sell
timeshare interests. Having targeted Plaintiffs and intentionally and
purposefully tarnished Plaintiffs’ business reputations and images
with their false advertising, Defendants then falsely portray
themselves as saviors, claiming, among the numerous
misrepresentations set forth above, to (1) have obtained relief for
thousands of timeshare owners valued at millions of dollars, (2)
have a success rate of 93%, and (3) guarantee a successful result
within 1 year to 18 months.

(TAC at40).

The Defendarst make several arguments in favor of dismissal of this count. They arg

that dismissal is required because Rteintiffs are neither (1) consumers nor (2) the Defendan

competitors. But as the Court noted in its previous order, FDUTPA claims are not limited to

-10 -

ners

ge

O

jue

Sl




consumers; and the Defendants have not provadgdasis for finding that competitors are the
only patiesaside fromconsumershat can bring FDUTPA claim

Austin argues that the acts and practices he is alleged to have engageel mot donén
the conduct of any trade or commerce” and therefore are not covered by FDUDBA. 99 at 8-
9). For purposes of FDUTPA, the term “trade or commerce” is defined aadWeetising,
soliciting, providing, offering, or disturbing, whether by sale, rental, or otheraisay good or
service, or any property, whether tangible or intangible, or any otfi@e acommodity, or thing
of value, wherever situated.” Fla. Stab®L.203(8). The Plaintiffs never allege that Austin
himself created any of the deceptive ads or directly convinced any Orange Laket@wiop
making payments. However, according to the allegations of the Third Amended Gamplai
Austinis one of the “masterminds” of the multifacetiteptive advertisingcheme described in
Cownt IV. (TAC at9). For present purposes, that is sufficient to stdtena against him.

Castle Law and Phillipargue that the Lanham Act claims asserted in Count IV and V
must be dismissed, which would require dismissal of the FDUTPA claim. In $uiby@yrcite
Global Tech IED, LLC v. Hilumz Int’l Corp. Case No: 2:1%v-553FtM-29CM, 2016 WL
3059390 (M.D. Fla. May 31, 2016). Itis true that, in that case, Judge Steele found that dis
of the Defendant’ Lanham Act counterclaim mandated dismissal of their FDAme &lorida
unfair competition countetaims as well, on the grounds that the legal test fahade claims
were the same.ld. at *3. Andit is also true thain this case, the Court findsifra, that the
Plaintiffs’ Lanham Act claims are due to be dismissétbwever though thdegal tests for
FDUTPA and Lanham Act clainmight be the same, the allegations in the Third Amended
Complaint are differem In their Lanham Act claims, the Plaintiffalg argue that the

Defendantsallegedly misleading advertising harmed their reputations; in the FDUTHA, dfa
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addition to the alleged reputational harm, the Plaintiffs contend that the Deféridantstising
and marketing materials ... falsely induce [timeshare owners] to stop making paymdaistisP
(TAC at 3940). As discussed below, the Court found that the Lanham Act counts failed to statq
claim because the ads cited by the Plaintiffs could not have caused tia¢ioeplharm they altgedly
suffered. But the Defendants did not challenge the allegations in the FDtbUPAthat their
advertising and marketing materials could have resulted in a different injury — engtopping of
payments by Orange Lake Owners. Thus, Count IV does not suffer the same causationgsroblg
Counts V and VI, and the motion will be denied as to this count.
D. Count V — False Advertising under the Lanham Act

In Count V, the Plaintiffs allege th&astle Law and Resort Relief violated the Lanham

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). The pertinent provision of the Lanham Act provides that

(1) Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services,
or any container for goods, uses in commerce any word, term, name,
symbol, or device, or any combination theremfany false

designation of origin, false or misleading description of fact, or false
or misleading representation of fact, whieh

(B) in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresents the
nature, characteristics, qualities, or geographic oafms or her or
another persos’goods, services, or commercial activities,

shall be liable in a civil action by any person who believes that he or
she is or is likely to be damaged by such act.

15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B).To state a claim for false adwsing in violation of the Lanham Act,
a plaintiff must show that

(1) the ... statements were false or misleading; (2) the statements
deceived, or had the capacity to deceive, consumers; (3) the
deception had a material effect on the consumers’ purchasing
decision; (4) the misrepresented service affects interstate commerce;
and (5) [the plaintiff] has been, or likely will be, injured as a result

of the false or misleading statement.
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Duty Free Americas, Inc. v. Estee Lauder Companies, 78¢8 F.3d 1248, 1277 (11th Cir. 201
(citing Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order v. Fla. Priory of Knights Hospitaller2 F.3d
1279, 1294 (11th Cir. 2012)).

In this count, the Plaintiffs allege that Castle Law and Resort Relief made the falowir
representations of ¢a— which they describe as “false or misleadirgh their advertising:

a. Castle Law guarantees on its website that it will relieve timeshare
owners of their timeshare obligations within one (1) year to eighteen
(18) months from the date they sign ughnCastle Law.

b. Castle Law’s website boasts it has saved its “6000+” customers
“millions of dollars” defending against timeshare developers and
expressly mentions Silverleéf.

c. Castle Law’s website also claims that, regardless of whether there
is any kgitimate legal basis for the cancellation, “[n]Jo matter your
reason for wanting to get rid of your timeshare, Castle Law Group
can help.”

d. Resort Relief guarantees it will relieve timeshare owners of their
timeshare obligations if Resort Relief is ratd, promising “a 100
percent money back guarantee certificate for an added sense of
security.”

e. Resort Relief claims on its website it has been the “model for
many copycat companies, but they all are missing one thing. Actual
cancellations,” boasting@8 percent success rate. In the cases “that
we have not been successful, clients get 100 percent of their money
returned to them[.]” Resort Relief's website expressly mentions
Silverleaf as one of the developers against whom it has achieved
success.

(TAC at 4647). The Plaintiffs go on to assert that, by way of tHesestatements, Castle Law
and Resort Relief

substantially injured Plaintiffs’ business reputation by leading
consumers and others in the trade to believe its false statements of

4 Silverleaf Resorts, Inc. is a timeshare company acquired by Orange LaKisin 20
(TAC at 5).
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fact abouits services and by falsely stating, inter alia, that Plaintiffs
are engaged in unlawful or illegal conduct.

(TAC at 47).

As with the FVPTA claims asserted in Count Il, these Defendants assehelidaintiffs
lack statutory standing to proceed under the Lanham Act. To come within thequciece of
interestsand thereby possess statutory standing, a plaintiff in a suit for false sidgentnder
Section 1125(a) “must allege an injury to a commercial interest in reputatiom®f shexmark
134 S.Ct. at 1390. In addition, the Lanham Act’s cause of action is limited to psaivtidise
injuries are proximately caused by violations of the statutk.

For purposes of the Lanham Act, “commercial advertising or promotion” incl@ijles (
commerciakpeech (2) by a defendant who is in commercial competition with the plaintiér(3)
the purpose of influencing consumers to buy defendant’s goods or services, and (4) that is

disseminated sufficiently to the purchasing public to constitute “advertisingiamotion”

within that industry. Edward Lewis Tobinick, MD v. Novell848 F.3d 935, 950 (11th Cir. 2017).

Castle Lawcontends that the Lanham Act claims should be dismissed béhausefendants are

not in competition with the Plaintiffs.(Doc. 103 at 123). However, claims under the Lanhan

—

Act are not limited to competitorsLexmark 134 S.Ct. at 1392 (“To be sure, a plaintiff who does

not compete with the defendant will often have a harder time establishing ptexdausation.
But a rule ctegorically prohibiting all suits by noncompetitors would read too much into ttig A
reference to ‘unfair competition’ in [15 U.S.C.] § 1137.”

Austin argues that the Plaintiffs have failed to set forth their Lanham Act chdtims
enough specificityd satisfy Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b)(Doc. 99 at 11). In support of his argument th
such specificity is required, he citesNatrition Distrib., LLC v. New Health Ventures, L1 2017

WL 2547307 (S.D.Cal. June 13, 2017) (holding that heightened pleading standard applies t
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Lanham Act claims that are grounded in frauddustin does not cite any cases from within thig
Circuit holding that the heightened pleading standard of Rule 9(b) app$ashialaims, while
several district courts within the Circuit hadeclined to apply that standardSee Incarcerated
Entertainment, LLC v. Warner Bros. Pictur@é1 F.Supp.3d 1220, 1226-27 (M.D. Fla. 2017)
(collecting cases).Consistent with the authority cited limcarcerated Entertainmenthe Court
declines to impose a heightened pleading requirement.

Castle Law argues that the Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim because thbdyarm t
claim to have suffered injury to their reputatiosaused by the Defendantgélding consumers
and others in the trade to belidtieeir] false statements of fact abdtiteir] services and by
falsely statinginter alia, that Plaintiffs are engagéa unlawful or illegal conduct” (TAC at 47) —
could not have happened as a resuthefallegedly false statements cited by the Plaintiffs. In
this, Castle Law is correct. Misleading potential clients about Castleslsawgtess rate in gettin
timeshare owners out of their contracts does not harm the reputation of timeshkpelsve
lenders. And none of the cited advertising states that the Plaintigsgaged in unlawful or
illegal conduct. Count V will therefore be dismissed without prejudice.

E. Count VI — Contributory False Advertisingunder the Lanham Act

In Count VI, e Plaintiffs seek to hold Castle Venture and Castle Marketing, as well g

individual Defendants alleged to control those entities..-Keever and Austin — liable under the

Lanham Act for contributing tthe (allegedly) false advertising that was atissue in Count V.
(TAC at 4955). The allegations as to misleading statements and resulting teatine Zame in
Count VI as they were in Count V. As such, the harm alleged could not have resuttetd

statements at issue, and Count VI willoalee dismissed without prejudice.
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F. Count VII — Misleading Advertising, Fla. Stat. § 817.41 and
Count VIII — Contributory Misleading Advertising, Fla. Stat. 8§ 817.41

In their last two counts, the Plaintiffs allege that the same statements at i€sumts V
and VI also violated Section 817.41, Florida Statutes, which makes it unlawful for aag feers
make or disseminate (or cause to be made or disseminated) any misleadingeadeettbefore
the general public of the state (or any portion thgredf consumer party may state a claimder

Fla. Stat. 8817.41 by pleading

that the partyelied on some identifiable alleged misleading
advertising plus, where appropriate, all of the other elements of the
common law tort of fraud in the inducementfafws: (a) the
representor made a misrepresentation of a material fact; (b) the
representor knew or should have known of the falsity of the
statement; (c) the representor intended that the representation would
induce another to rely and act on it; anfitfee plaintiff suffered

injury in justifiable reliance on the representation.

Third Party Verification, Inc. v. Signaturelink, Iné92 F.Supp.2d 1314, 1322 (M.D. Fla. 2007
(Conway, J.). Obviously, the Plaintiffs in this case are not consumers arat alleage that they
relied on any of the Defendants’ advertising. Some courts — includir@jghaturelinkcourt —

have held that

when the party alleging misleading advertising is a competitor of the
defendant in selling the goods and services to wihieimisleading
advertisement relates, an allegation of competition is permitted to
“standin” for the element of direct reliance that a consumer is
obligated to plead.

Id. The Plaintiffs attempt to bring themselves within the ambit of Fla. Stat. 8 8y dlfleging
that they are competitors of Castle Law and Resort Relief, in that those tercdBets

advertise to Plaintiffs’ existing client base in order to persuade them
to do business with Castle Law and Resort Relief instead of with
Plaintiffs, and tadivert monies due and owing to Plaintiffs instead to
Castle Law andResortRelief.”

(TAC at 45).
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This argument fails. The Plaintiffs are in the business of getting peoplénmehares,
while the Defendants are in the business of getting them out. Thougtatbet audiences
necessarily overlap, tHelaintiffs and Defendantre selling entirely different services. They a
adversaries, not competitors.

As the Plaintiffs are neither consumers nor competitors with respectDetbedants,
Couwnts VIl and VIII will be dismissed with prejudice.

V. Conclusion

In consideration of the foregoing, it is hereby

ORDERED that the motions to dismiss (Doc. 103, 106, 109 GRANTED IN PART
AND DENIED IN PART as set forth above. Count llldésmissedvith prejudice Counts V
and VI are dismissed without prejudice; and Counts VIl and VIII are dismissegrejudice. In
all other respects, the motions are denied.

DONE andORDERED in Chambers, Orlando, Florida on March 29, 2018.

< - )
/)/J/L"Q'i_«%— W
GREGCORY A. PRESNELL
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Copies furnished to:

Counsel of Record
Unrepresented Party
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